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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 10-80738-CV-Hurley/Hopkins

COMMODITY FUTURES TRADING
COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
V.
PHILIPMILTON, et al.

Defendants.
/

MEMORANDUM OPINION WITH FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF
LAW REGARDING THE AMOUNT OF RESTITUTION, DISGORGEMENT,
AND CIVIL MONETARY PENALTIESASTO DEFENDANTS
WILLIAM CENTER AND GREGORY CENTER

THIS CAUSE is before the Court following a bench trial to determine the amount of
Restitution, Disgorgement and Civil Monetary Penalty Defendants William aegloGr Center
shouldbe ordered to pay. The Court previously entered consent orders of permamertioimju
against both Gregory Center [ECF No. 70] and William Center [ECF No. 54]rthe ¢ which
are incorporatetly reference into thimemorandum Opinion. Each consent order stated that the
defendant “shall pay full restitution and disgorgement” ‘ahall pay a civil monetary penalty.”

Plaintiff then filed its Motion to Set Restitution, Disgorgement and Civil Mogetar
Penalty Amounts as to Defendants William and Gregory Center [ECF No. 92]. The Cour
denied the motion without prejudicbecause Platiff utilized an incorrect standard in
formulating its proposal and because the Court found that additional findings would bedequir
to determine the appropriate penalty amount@rder Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Set

Restitution and Setting NeduryTrial [ECF No. 112]. Accordingly, the Court held a bench trial
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on April 24, 2013. The Court has carefully considered the testimony of witnesses, evidence in
the record and the parties’ arguments. Pursuant to Rule S#(#)e Federal Rules of Civil
Pracedure, theCourt makes the following findings of fact and reaches the following conclusions
of law.
FINDINGS OF FACT
A. Background

1. OnFebruary 18, 2011his Court entered consent order of permanent injunction
and ancillary reliefagainst William Center. Consent Order of Permanent Injunction, Civil
Monetary Penalty and for Other Equitable Relief Against William Cent&@F[ENo. 54]
(“Consent Order Against William Center”)n that consent order, William Center stipulated
liability and agreedthat he “shll pay” restitution, disgorgement, and civil monetary penalty
(“CMP”). Id. at 1213, 16.

2. OnJuly 29, 2011, this Cougntereda consent order of permanemjunction and
ancillary reliefagainstGregory Center. Consent Order of Permanent Injunction, Civil Monetary
Penalty and for Other Equitable Relief Against Gregory Center [ECH0]dConsent Order
Against Gregory Center’) In that consent order, Gregory Censtipulated to liability and
agreed that he “glfl pay” restitution, disgorgement, and a CMB. at11, 14-15.

3. William and GregoryCentets respectiveconsent ordersach contain the
following provision:

To effect settlement of the matters alleged in the Complaint in this action prior to
a trial onthe merits or further judicial proceedings, [Defendant]:

[ ]

Neither admits nor denies the allegations of the Complaint or the Findings of Fact
and Conclusions of Law contained in this Order, except as to jurisdiction and



venue, which he admits. However, he agrees and intends that the allegations of

the Complaint and all of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law contained

in this Order shall be taken as true and correct and be given preclusive effect,

without further proof, in the course of any subsequent action to enforce the terms

of this order and any bankruptcy proceeding filed by, on behalf of, or against him.

No provision of this Order shall in any way limit or impair the ability of any

person to seek any legal or equitable remedy agfidefendant], or any other

person in any other proceeding.
Consent Order Against William Centgrl1; Consent Order Against Gregory Center § 11.

4, On May 2, 2007,Philip Milton and Gregory Center formed TradeLC in
Florida. Trade LLC was organizedot commercialize a futures and securities trading system
designed by Milton. Milton and Gregory Center were named Managing Membéiiam
Center was not named in the Articles of Incorporation but, by his own admissiamh,aacte
Managing Member.Complaint § 27 [ECF No. 1].

5. William Centerexercised control over TradeLC’s finances and had the power
to controlits operations.ld.  60.

6. From May 2, 2007 through July, 2009 (“relevant period”)Defendants Trade
LLC, William Center, Gregory Center, and others fraudulently solicited and accepted
approximately$28 million from numerousndividuals ancentities to participate ia commodity
poolto tradecommodity futuregontractsand securitiesld. 1.

7. Throughout the relevant period, in order to induce participation iodhenodity
pool, Trade LLC, through its agents and employeegluding William and Gregory Center,
acted asan unregisteregdommodity pool operatprand omitted material facts, including that

William Center,Gregory Centeand Trade LLC were misappropriating pool participaiunds.

Further, they made material misrepresentations, including misreprestrintpe commodity

! The allegations of the Complaint [ECF No. 1] are incorporated herein by reference



pool was profitable when it was not; misrepresenting how funds loaned to Tt&zigyould be

used, claiming they would be used for trading or operating expenses when thegciuatly

used to pay pool participants as profiéregory Center misrepresenibcde, LLC’s compliance

with applicablefederal and state regulationkl. § 2. Consent Order Against Gregory Center § 6

[ECF No. 70].

8. At a minimum, William andGregory Center made the following false or

misleading representations in thealicitations:

a.

they falsely claimed Trade LLC was in compliance with CFTC
registration requirements;

theyfalsely represented that the pool was profitable when it was not; and
Gregory Centehelped William Center send pool participants fraudulent
documents supporting Defendants' claim that the pool was profitable when

it was not.

Complaint 1 42 [ECF No. 1].

9. At a minimum, William and Gregory Center omitted the following material facts

from their solicitations:

a.

theyfailed to disclose¢he fact that they wenesing participants’ funds for
their personal use, including payitlgemselvesa salary of up to $10,000
per montheachand using pool funds to pay expenses;

they failed to disclose the fact that the pool was losing marely;

they failed to disclose the fact thdhe Defendants weresing pool
participants’ funds to pay principal and purported profit returns to existing

pool participants in a manner typical of a Ponzi scheme.



Id.  43.

10. Trade LLC, through its agents and employees, includiidiam and Gregory
Center, acted as eommodity pool operator. As such, it owed a fiduciary duty to pool
participants. It was obligated to disclose all material information to participafsol
participantshad a right to be informetthat the pool was not profitable, thetade,LLC was not
in compliance with the rules otlevant federal regulatory agencies, that participant funds were
being misappropriatesh a mannetypical of a Ponzi scheme, and thimcuments circulated by
William Centerwere blatantly false on material issues, suchhaspiool’'s profitability. The
Centers’failure todisclosethis informationconstitutedmaterial and fraudulent omissgnld.

44,
B. Misappropriation

11. Trade LLC, throughWilliam Center,Gregory Center and others, told prospective
participants thafrade LLC intended toearncommissios based on profits. TragéLC was
only profitable two months of the relevant periodonethelessWilliam and GregoryCenter
took a commission in months other than the two profitable molatH 48.

12. By awarding themseés commissions in unprofitable monthg/illiam and
GregoryCentermisappropriated participants’ funds for their own personal gain. Specifically,
without regard to whetherTrade, LLC was profitable, Willam and Gregory Center
misappropriated up t$10,000a month each Additionally, they used TradeLLC funds to pay
expenses. William Center and Gregory Centeeceivedapproximately $1.3 million through
Center Richmond, LLC.William Centerreceivedanother $50,000 directly. Thus, instead of
trading Trade, LLC’s pool participants’ funds as promiseéfrade LLC, William Center,and

GregoryCenter used participant funds for their osatary and expensds. {{ 4950.



13.  William andGregory Centeusedone or more of the Relieféendant8D, LLC;
CMJ Capital LLC; Center Richmond, LLC; and TWTT, LL&s a meansf misappropriating
pool participants’ funds A total of approximately $6 million was paid to the Relief Defendants
in the form of salaries, business expenses, and other fraudulent expgdn$§es2.

C. Trial on Restitution, Disgorgement & Civil Monetary Penalty

14. The courtappointed Receiver, Jeffrey C. Schnejdevas called by the
Commission to testify at the April 24, 2013 bench trial. Schneider testifieddtingiy the
relevant period, BfendantsTrade, LLC, William Center, and Gregory Center fraudulently
solicited and accepted approximately $28,400°060m at least four investment clubs totaling
at least 2,000 individuals to participate in a commodity pool to trade commoditsedut
contracts ad securities. The Court finds this testimony credible and worthy of belief.

15. The Commission called Futures Trading Investigator George H. Malastifg tes
at the April 24, 2013 bench trial. Malsgsstifiedthat of the pool participant funds fraudulently
solicited by William Center, Gregory Center, and Trade, LLC, $1,228,862.63 in poolpzartici
funds were transferred to Reli€fefendant Center Richmond, LLC. The Court finds this
testimony credible and worthy of belief.

16. Malastestified thatWilliam Cenker personally received a total of $455,430 in

unjust enrichment from pool participant funds, sain¢ctly to him from bank accounts in the

2 Although the Commission’s Investigator George H. Malas testified thatatweilated the
amount solicited to the penny ($28,449,751.88), the Commissiated that it is more
appropriate to use the Court appointed Receiver’'s conclusion regarding the ammited sol
(approximately, $28,400,000). Therefotiee Courtwill use $28,400,000 in its restitution and
civil monetary penalty calculations. This amounts to a diffezeof $49,751.88 and works to the
Defendants’ benefits because it reduces their restitution and civil mopetaalfies.



name ofTrade, LLC and Center Richmond, LL@spectively The Court finds this testimony
credible and worthy of bef.

17. Malas further testified thatGregory Center personally received a total of
$265,661.14 in unjust enrichment from pool participant funds, sent directly tdrdmmbank
accounts in the name @enter Richmond, LLC. The Court finds this testimengdble and
worthy of belief.

18. Malas testified concerning his pgatgment interest calculations for the
restitution awards against William and Gregory Centdvlalas testified that based on a
restitution amount of $455,430 owed by William Center, duringptieod February 1, 2011
through March 31, 2012, a total of $32,885.80 in fadgment interest would have accrued.
Malas further testified that based on a restitution amount of $265,661.14 owed by Gregory
Center, during the period July 1, 2011 through March 31, 2013, a total of $14,959.58 in post
judgment interest would have accriiedrhe Court finds this testimorgredible and worthy of
belief. His calculations were entered into evidence as Plaintiff's Exhibit 55 andtiffk&in
Exhibit 56, respectively.

19. The ourt-appointed Receivetestified which testimony waslso uncontested,
that theDefendants returned $10,304,712 to the Defendants’ pemticipantsand that—after
seeking and obtaining th@ourt’s approval—he returneds7,283,000 to the Defendants’ pool

participants.ld. at 3. This testimony is credible and worthy of belief.

3 Postjudgment interest was determined by using the Treasury Bill rateilpigvan the date of
the two consent orders, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961(a).

* The Receiver for Trade, LLC testified that he and the Receiver for Cash Flanckl, LLC

(one of the entities defrauded by Trade, LLC) recently determined that the [t&ti®eceiver
returned $123,880.07 more than Cash FlomaRcial, LLC was entitled to. The Receiver

Trade, LLC filed a motion with this Court seeking the return of those funds. Thé anted



20. Malas testified that Trade, LC received $28,449,751.88 in paoticipant
deposits during the relevant period and only placed $15,055,000 into its trading accounts, leaving
a difference of $13,394,751.88. He further testified that of the $15,055,000 traded, Trade, LLC
lost $2,160,147.59 through its trading durihg telewant period. This testimony is credible and
worthy of belief.

21.  William Center failed to file an answer to the complaint in this matter and failed
to appear at trial in person or by counsel. Therefore, he has failed to present angeevide
contradi¢ing the Plaintiff's allegations.

22.  Gregory Center appeared at trial but failed to present any witnesses ohany ot
evidence refuting the Plaintiff's allegations. Instelae simply offered argument.

23.  The testimonies of Malaand Schneider were uncontroverted by Defendants.

. CONCLUSIONSOF LAW

A. Jurisdiction and Venue

1. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 6¢ of the
Commodity ExchangeAct, 7U.S.C. § 13dl (2006) (“the Act”), which authorizes the
Commssion to seek injunctive relief against any person whenever it shall appear to the

Commission that such person has engaged, is engaging, or is about to engagadnhan

the motion (DE 118) and the Receiver for Trade, LLC is awaiting an order @djdlae¢ Receiver

for Cash flow Fiancial, LLC to return the funds to him. However, the Commission has
calculated restitution without regard to this reduction in the amount of fundseetiarade,

LLC pool participants. By proceeding in this manner, William Center benefitsubecit
reduces the restitution award he will have to pay by $123,880.07. Because Gregory @enter is
liable for Trade, LLC’s unjust enrichment, this has no impact on his restitutiord.awdhe

Court agrees with the Commission’s approach and has adopted it for the purposes of this
Memorandum Opinion.



practice constituting a violation of any provision of the Act or any rulgulagon, or order
thereunder.

2. Venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6¢(e) of thenAttiat
Defendants are found in, inhabit, or transact business in this District, andsla@@gdractices in
violation of the Act have occurred, are occurring, or are about to occur witkirDiirict,
among other places.

B. Violations of the Act

3. Becausethis proceeding is an action to enforce the provisions of the consent
orders, specifically the provisions stating that the Centers will each pstitutien,
disgorgement, and civil monetary penalties, the allegations of the Complaint aofl tlhé
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in the consent orders are taken as trueeand Qi
preclusive effect without the need for further proof.

4, By the conduct described above, William Center knowingly, or with reckless
disregard for the truth, violated Sectiofis(a)(2)(i) and (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. &b(a)(2)(i)
and (iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring before June 18, 2008, and Sections 4b(a)(1)(A)
and (C) of the Act, as amended by (DRA, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. &b(a)(1)(A) and (C),
with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18, 2008.

5. During the relevant period, William Center knowingly, or with reckless gissce
for the truth, violated Section 4b(a)(2)(ii) of the Act, 7 U.S.Gb&)(2)(ii), with respect to acts
occurring before June 18, 2008, and Section 4b(a)(1)(B) of the Act, as amended by the CRA, to
be codified at 7 U.S.C. &(a)(1)(B), with respect to acts occurring on or after June 18, 2008, by
issuing or causing to be issued false account statements and reportsggflesitive returns for

the pool and increases in the value of pool participants’ interests.



6. William Center was a controlling person of Trade, LLC, and as sultéble for
Trade, LLC’s violations of the CEA as well as his own violations.
7. By the conduct described above, Gregory Center knowingly, or nettkless

disregard for the truth, violated Sections 4b(a)(2)(i) and (iii) of the Act, 7 U.S.6b(8%2)(i)

and (iii) (2006), with respect to acts occurring before June 18, 2008, and Sections 4b(a)(1)(A)

and (C) of the Act, as amended by the CRAh¢omdified at 7 U.S.C. §8b(a)(1)(A) and (C),
with respecto acts occurring on or after June 18, 2008.

C. Restitution

8. The Court finds that Defendants’ actions in this case comprisedth
misrepresentations and omissions of material fa@s the whole, however, this case is most
accurately described as amissions case. h€ heart of the fraud was the Defendants’ failure to
tell pool participants of the Defendants’ scheme to misappropriate the poolpaetistifunds
that the Defendants were not trading all of the funds from pool participanthametendants
took commissions even whefdrade LLC was not profitable, contrary to their earlier
representationsSee Waters v. Int’l Precious Metals Cqrp72 F.R.D. 479, 485 (S.D. Fla. 1996)
(“Based onPlaintiffs’ theory that this case is based on Defendafaiture to disclose the
‘Alleged Schemé this Court finds that this is an omissions cgse.

9. Because this is primarily an omissions case, this Court findsitthat not
necessary that the Commmsiprove pool participants relied on William and Gregory Center’s
misrepresentationsnd omissions for purposes a#lculatingpool participant restitutiobecause
reliance is presumedAffiliated Ute Citizens v. United State®6 U.S. 128, 153 (19720 Under
. .. circumstances . . . involving primarily a failure to disclose, positive proof ahceliis not a

prerequisite to recover. All that is necessary is that the facts withheld beahmaténe sense

10



that a reasonable investor might have comsmleehem important [in deciding whether to
invest].”); Waters 172 F.R.D. at 485(*[T]his is an omissions case. Thereforeiffiimted Ute
presumption of reliance appli&s.

10. Moreover, because the unlawful conduct in the instant case was pervasive,
reditution to all defrauded customers is appropriaked. Trade Comm’n v. Figgie Intl, Inc.
994 F.2d 595, 6096 (9th Cir. 1993) (A presumption of actual reliance arises once the
Commission has proved that the defendant made material misrepresenthtioribey were

widely disseminated, and that consumers purchtmedefendans product’).

11. Defendants’ fraudulent activity was pervasive in the instant case bedause t
material omissions were a part of Defendants standard promotional actindiesagerials.|d.

at 599-600.

12. In the absence of any evidence submitted by Defendants to the contrary, the
presumption of reliance arising from Defendants’ pervasive fraudulent yasvdufficient to
warrant relief. Id. See also CFTC v. Wilshire Mgr@orp, 531 F.3d 1339, 1345 n.3 (11th Cir.
2008) (“Appellants also argue thatstitution was improper because there was insufficient
evidence that theustomers relied on Appellants’ misrepresentations. We express no opinion as
to whether a finding ofreliance is required to awardestitution in CFTC enforcement
proceedings under 7 U.S.C. § 1Ba However, even if such a finding was required, there is
ample evidence in the record showing that the ooste here relied on Appellants’
misrepresentations.”).

13.  Finally, “proof of nonreliance is an affirmative defense....[and] Defendants have

the burden of proving nereliance by a preponderance of the evidence on an individual basis.”

11



Waters,172 F.R.D. at 486 (citations omitted)Villiam Center failed to fé an answer to the
complaint. Gregory Center failed fglead non+eliance in his answer. BotWilliam and
GregoryCenterfailed to present a single witness or evidence of any &tnmial to refute the
presumptionof reliance They cannot now argue théhe Commissiorhas failed to prove
reliance.

14. The Court has previously held thagstitution is determined by calculating each
Defendants’ unjust enrichmenOrder Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Set Restitution and Setting
Non-Jury Trial, at 2 [ECF No. 112] (“The Court therefore finds that restitution in &#se shall
be measured by Defendants’ unjust enrichmenség alsoWilshire 531 F.3dat 1345. Pool
participants’ funds used to pay operating expenses and salary to defendamthidesl as part
of the unjust enrichmentSee CFT@. Capital Blu Mymt, LLC, No. 6:09cv-508-ORL-28DAB,
2011 WL 2357629, *6 (M.DFla. June 9, 2011) (“It was improper for Defendants to use [pool
participant] monies to pay legal fees or any other Capital Blu operatpemnes, and Defendants
are responsible for such montewhetherthey went toward legitimate Capital Blu expenses or
not.”).

15. The Court finds thawVilliam Center was personally, unjustly enriched in the
amount of $455,430.

16. A “controlling person” of an entity is liable for that entity’s violations of the Ac
if the controlling person did not act in good faith or knowingly induced, directly oreicigir the
act or &ts constituting the violationE.g., Section 13(b) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. 8§ 13c(b) (2006);
CFTC v. GuttermanNo. 1221047CIV, 2012 WL 2413082, *& (S.D. Fla. June 26, 2012)

(holding individual defendant liable for corporate defendanttation); CFTC v. MachadpNo.

12



11-22275€iv, 2012 WL 2994396, *7 (S.D. Fla. April 20, 2012) (holding individual liable for
corporate entity’s violation).

17.  William Center was a controlling person of Trade, LLC, failed to act in good
faith, and knowinglyinduced, directly or indirectly, the acts constituting Trade’s violations.
Consent Order Against William Center [ECF No. 54].

18. Trade, LLC’s unjust enrichment is determined as follows: the amount Trade,
LLC received from pool participants ($28,400,000), less the amount returned to pool pagicipa
by Trade,LLC ($10,304,712), less the amount returned to Trade, LLC pool participants by the
Receiven($7,283,000, less the amount lost trading ($2,160,147.59), equaisst enrichment of
$8,652,140.41.

19. The Court finds thatTrade, LLC was unjustly enriched in the amount of
$8,652,140.41, and that William Centas a controlling person of Trade, LLC, is liable for
Trade, LLC's violations of the Act and Regulations pursuant to Section 13(b) ofdther A
U.SC. 8§ 13c(b) (2006).

20. The Court finds that Gregory Center was unjustly enriched in the amount of
$265,661.14.

21. The Court finds thatgstjudgment interest for William and Gregory Center was
correctly calculated by the Commission’s Investigator, George H.s\dalthe April 24, 2013
bench trial.  His uncontested calculations are contained in Plaintiff's Exbi and 56.
Plaintiff’'s Exhibits 55 and 56 are incorporated by reference herein.

D. Disgorgement

22. Disgorgement is an equitable remedy designed to prevent unjust enrichment.

CFTC v Sidotj 178 F.3d 1132, 1138 (11th Cir. 1999). Because Defendants’ restitution

13



obligations provide for the full repayment of the Centers’ unjust enrichment, neitti@amAhor
Gregory Center will be required to pay their unjust enrichment as disgorgement.

E. Civil Monetary Penalies (“CMPs”)

23. CMPs are imposed under Section 6¢(d)(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C-EHi3d) and
serve the purposes of furthering the Act's remediatipsland detering others from committing
similar violations.

24.  Section 6¢(d)(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. 81B@l)(1) and Regulation 143.8 provide
for a CMP assessment for violations committed prior to October 23, 2008 of not more than the
greater of $130,000r triple the monetary gain to such person for each such violation of the Act
and Regulations, and for violations committed on or after October 23, 2008, not more than the
greater of $140,000 or triple the monetary gain to such person for each such violation.

25.  When calculating CMPgourtstake into account the seriousness of the violation
at issue as well as mitigating or aggravating circumstand€g, Inc. v. CFTC63.F.3d 1557,
1571 (11th Cir. 1995). d€tors used by courts to calculate an appropriate CMP include “the
relationship of the violation at issue to the regulatory purposes of the Act and wdretio¢ithe
violations involved core provisions of the Act; whether or not scienter was involved; the
consequences flowing from the violative conduct; financial benefits to a defendangramtbh
pool participant or the marketMachadq 2012 WL 2994396, at *10.

26. The Court finds that the Centers knowingly engaged in fraud, which is a core
violation of the Act and is very seriouslCC, Inc, 63 at 1571 (“Conduct that violates core
provisions of the Act’'s regulatory system such as manipulating prices or defrapdai
participants should be considered very serious even if there are mitigatitsy diad

circumstances”) (citation omitted).

14



27. In addition, during the fraud, the Centers continued to deceive participants after
the pool participants invested in order to defraud them of additional funds, and neither Defendant
has personally made an effort to make the victims whole or shown appropriateacontrit

28. Gregory Center testified on direct examination that he and his wife are both
lawyers, and that both make over $100,000 a year. Furthermore, he testified thes e &
house owned by his wife and that he has no financial obligation for the hdiss&as unable to
identify how his paycheck was spent and simply stated that it is deposited into a aacng#,
and is then spent by his wife however she sees fit. He acknowledged that he hasea colleg
savings account for his son and a retirement account for himself. Accordingly, theiusirt
he has the ability to pay a significant CMP.

29.  Although one statutory calculation produces a maximum CMP of $260,000,000 to
$280,000,000, depending on how many of the pool participants were solicited before and after
October 23, 2008, an award of this size would be excessive in this case.

30. However, darge CMP is necessary to penalize the Defendants for their conduct
and to act as a deterrent to others who may be tempted to engage in similar conducbreTheref
the Courtwill order William Center to pay a CMP @4,000,000 and Gregory Center to pay a
CMP of $2,000,000. Thesmumbers are warranted by the aggravating factors in this case and
are within the statutory penalty limits set forth in Section 6¢(d)(1) of the Adt.S.C. 813a
1(d)(1) and Regulation 143.8.

[11.  CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoingit is herebyORDERED andADJUDGED that:

1. The Court will enter a separate final judgment consistent with the findingstof fac

and conclusions of law in this Memorandum Opinion.

15
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2. The terms of the consent orders previowstyered against William and Gregory
Center remain in force and are unaffected by this Order.

3. The Court retains jurisdiction over the parties and this cause to enforce all
provisions of this memorandum opinion and provide additional relief as justified.

DONE andSIGNED in Chambers at West Palm Beach, Florida it day of May,

2013.

(L (it
Daniel T. K. Hurtey =~V
United States District Judge
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